# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-20-2017

# State v. Bernal Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44556

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature of the Case

John Bernal was convicted after a jury trial of aggravated assault with a deadly weapon, misdemeanor reckless driving, and misdemeanor leaving the scene of an accident. He received an aggregate unified sentence of ten years, with three years fixed. On appeal, Mr. Bernal contends that he was denied his right to due process because of a fatal variance between the charging document and the jury instruction on reckless driving. Mr. Bernal also contends that he was denied his right to due process because of a fatal variance between the charging document and the jury instruction defining assault. Mr. Bernal further contends that the prosecutor committed misconduct by misrepresenting its theory of guilt to the jury; a theory not charged in the Information. Finally, Mr. Bernal contends that the prosecutor committed misconduct by bolstering the testimony of the State's witnesses.

#### Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Mr. Bernal was charged by Information with aggravated assault by using a deadly weapon, misdemeanor reckless driving, and misdemeanor leaving the scene of an accident. (R., pp.47-49.) The case proceeded to trial.

At trial, Carmen Becerra testified that on May 10, 2016, she was driving behind a light blue Buick being driven by her ex-boyfriend, John Bernal. (Trial Tr., p.13, Ls.5-17; p.14, Ls.12-23; p.16, Ls.16-24; p.20, Ls.15-20.) She testified that, while they were stopped at a road construction site, he got out of his car and walked toward her. (Trial Tr., p.17, Ls.2-6; p.19, Ls.13-19.) When she saw him approaching, she turned off onto a side street. (Trial Tr., p.19, L.25 - p.20, L.2.) Mr. Bernal got back in his car and caught up to her again on another side street, Granger Street. (Trial Tr., p.20, Ls.8-16.) Ms. Becerra testified that she was driving very fast, and Mr. Bernal was driving close to her bumper. (Trial Tr., p.20, L.21 - p.21, L.14.) Ms. Becerra sped up, then stomped on her brakes. (Trial Tr., p.21, Ls.16-17.) When she slammed on her brakes, Mr. Bernal was forced to slam on his brakes and he swerved around Ms. Becerra's car to avoid hitting her. (Trial Tr., p.21, L.16 – p.22, L.9.) In doing so, he hit a white parked car. (Trial Tr., p.22, Ls.10-15.) Mr. Bernal got out of his car, but apparently did not speak to the owner of the car, which had a small scrape on the fender and a broken turn signal light. (Trial Tr., p.22, Ls.16-20; p.66, Ls.15-22; State's Ex. 2.) Ms. Becerra went home, where she lived with her mother, her brother Gustavo Becerra, and his wife and child. (Trial Tr., p.23, Ls.8-18.) As she headed home, Ms. Becerra called her brother to ask him to open the front door because the door handle was broken. (Trial Tr., p.23, L.22 – p.24, L.12.)

At trial, Gustavo Becerra testified that when his sister arrived at the house, he let her in, then took a baseball bat and waited outside for Mr. Bernal to show up. (Trial Tr., p.38, L.24 – p.40, L.7.) He had seen Mr. Bernal walking a few blocks from the house. (Trial Tr., p.38, L.s.6-13.) As Mr. Bernal approached the house, Mr. Becerra told him to leave. (Trial Tr., p.40, L.s.8-25.) When he did not leave, Mr. Becerra hit him with the baseball bat, hard, in the leg. (Trial Tr., p.40, L.8 – p.43, L.8.) Mr. Becerra said he saw Mr. Bernal holding a pocket knife in his pocket. (Trial Tr., p.43, Ls.3-23; p.58, Ls.14-16.) After the first hit, Mr. Bernal stepped back, took the knife all of the way out of his pocket, and then, while holding the knife close to his own body, he stepped aggressively towards Mr. Becerra. (Trial Tr., p.43, Ls.17-19; p.44, Ls.2-16.) Mr. Becerra hit Mr. Bernal again with the bat, this time in the ribs. (Trial Tr., p.43, L.20 – p.44, L.23.) At that point, Mr. Bernal backed up, made some threats to Mr. Becerra, and began walking away from Mr. Becerra's house. (Trial Tr., p.44, L.24 – p.45, L.16.) Mr. Becerra

followed him, and when Mr. Bernal reached the street, he pulled the knife back out of his pocket and swiped the knife toward Mr. Becerra.<sup>1</sup> (Trial Tr., p.45, L.16 – p.47, L.5.) Mr. Becerra testified that he had moved out of the way in anticipation of Mr. Bernal's action. (Trial Tr., p.46, Ls.6-11.) After saying he would be back, Mr. Bernal walked away. (Trial Tr., p.47, Ls.11-20.) Mr. Becerra was the only witness who testified that Mr. Bernal was holding a knife during this encounter. Carmen Becerra testified that, despite what she apparently wrote in her prior police report, she never did see a knife in Mr. Bernal's hand. (Trial Tr., p.28, Ls.11-25; p.30, Ls.3-18.) Ms. Becerra, who was watching from the living room window, said she did see Mr. Bernal lunge toward Mr. Becerra before Mr. Becerra hit Mr. Bernal with the bat. (Trial Tr., p.26, Ls.1-23; p.30, Ls.3-18.) Ms. Becerra testified that Mr. Bernal left on foot after that. (Trial Tr., p.26, Ls.24-25.)

Wang Le testified that he saw a blue Buick hit his car. (Trial Tr., p.62, L.11 – p.63, L.18.) Mr. Le was not in the car, but it was parked in front of his house on Granger Street. (Trial Tr., p.62, L.7 – p.63, L.3.) Mr. Le called 911. (Trial Tr., p.64, Ls.1-6.) He did not talk to the driver of the blue Buick, but identified him as a man with long hair and a mustache. (Trial Tr., p.66, Ls.1-22.)

Both sides rested, and the jury was sent to deliberate. (Trial Tr. p.68, Ls.3-4; p.108, Ls.21-25.) During deliberations, the jury asked if they could consider a (simple) assault charge instead of an aggravated assault charge. (R., p.99.) The jurors also asked the court for a transcript of the testimony about the knife, and the district court had the court reporter re-read the testimony of Gustavo Becerra. (R., pp.99, 102.) The district court, upon the agreement of both

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It is not clear when the knife was in Mr. Bernal's pocket and when it was out of Mr. Bernal's pocket. Mr. Becerra's testimony about the knife was varied and inconsistent. (See Trial Tr., p.42, L.6 - p.44, L.16; p.46, L.7 - 47, L.8; 54, L.20 - 56, L.25.)

defense counsel and the prosecutor, told the jury they could not convict Mr. Bernal of the lesser included offense of simple assault. (R., p.100; Trial Tr., p.109, Ls.7-24.)

The jury found Mr. Bernal guilty of aggravated assault with a deadly weapon, reckless driving, and leaving the scene of an accident. (8/3/16 Tr., p.2, L.14 – p.3, L.6; R., pp.103-106.)

At sentencing, the district court imposed ten years, with three years fixed, for the aggravated assault with a deadly weapon conviction, and, for the two misdemeanors, the district court sentenced Mr. Bernal to one hundred twenty days in jail, to be served concurrently with each other and with the aggravated assault conviction. (10/3/16 Tr., p.19, Ls.19-24; R., pp.108-111.)

## **ISSUES**

- I. Did the district court's instruction to the jury on the elements of reckless driving constitute a fatal variance?
- II. Did the district court's instruction to the jury on the elements of assault constitute a fatal variance?
- III. Did the State commit prosecutorial misconduct by misrepresenting its theory of guilt?
- IV. Did the State commit prosecutorial misconduct during closing arguments by bolstering the testimony of its witnesses?

#### ARGUMENT

I.

### The District Court's Instruction To The Jury On The Elements Of Reckless Driving Created A Fatal Variance With The Charging Document

#### A. Introduction

Giving this instruction violated Mr. Bernal's right to due process-he had no notice prior to the prosecutor's closing argument that the State was alleging that he committed reckless driving on Granger Street. The Information alleged that Mr. Bernal "carelessly and heedlessly" operated a motor vehicle "upon Five Mile Rd., Boise by driving aggressively" and by "stopp[ing] his vehicle in front of Carmen Becerra's vehicle blocking traffic." (R., p.48.) The general reckless driving jury instruction enabled the prosecutor to change its theory at the end of trial by telling the jury that it could convict Mr. Bernal of reckless driving both for getting out of his car while it was stopped during construction on Five Mile Road, and by losing control of his car and hitting Mr. Le's car on Granger Street. The elements jury instruction expanded the conduct Mr. Bernal could have been convicted of by asking the jury to generally find the defendant, "drove or was in actual physical control of a vehicle upon a highway, or upon public or private property open to the public, and the defendant drove the vehicle carelessly or heedlessly or without due caution and circumspection and in a manner as to endanger or be likely to endanger any person or property." (R., p.93.) Although the instruction at issue was a pattern jury instruction and the Idaho Criminal Jury Instructions are presumed correct (see State v. Merwin, 131 Idaho 642, 647 (1998), the State had chosen to specify in the charging document what conduct it believed constituted reckless driving. Because the jury instruction lessened the State's burden of proof as alleged in the Information and the prosecutor asked the jury to convict

Mr. Bernal for uncharged conduct covered by the general jury instruction, the instruction created a fatal variance.

#### B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

The existence of an impermissible variance is a question of law over which the reviewing courts exercise free review. *State v. Alvarez*, 138 Idaho 747, 750 (Ct. App. 2003). If it is established that a variance exists, the appellate court must determine whether it rises to the level of prejudicial error mandating reversal of the conviction. *See State v. Brazil*, 136 Idaho 327, 329 (Ct. App. 2001).

# C. <u>The District Court's Instruction To The Jury On The Elements Of Reckless Driving</u> <u>Created A Fatal Variance With The Charging Document</u>

"A trial court has the duty to properly instruct the jury on the law applicable to the case before it." *Weinstein v. Prudential Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 149 Idaho 299, 313 (2010). Jury instructions that fall short of requiring the State to prove every element of the offense violate due process and, thus, rise to the level of fundamental error. *State v. Hickman*, 146 Idaho 178, 182 (2008); *State v. Calver*, 155 Idaho 207, 214 (Ct. App. 2013). The instructions to the jury must match the allegation in the charging document as to the means by which a defendant is alleged to have committed the crime charged. *State v. Hooper*, 145 Idaho 139, 147 (2007). If they do not, there can be a fatal variance between the jury instructions and the charging document. *State v. Folk*, 151 Idaho 327, 342 (2011); *State v. Day*, 154 Idaho 476 (Ct. App. 2013). A fatal variance is a due process violation. *See De Jonge v. Oregon*, 299 U.S. 353, 362 (1937), *State v. Chapa*, 127 Idaho 786, 790 (Ct. App. 1995).

A variance may occur where there is a difference between the allegations in the charging instrument and the proof adduced at trial or where there is a disparity between the allegations in

the charging instrument and the jury instructions. *State v. Montoya*, 140 Idaho 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2004). A variance between a charging document and a jury instruction or the evidence adduced at trial requires reversal only when it deprives the defendant of his substantial rights by violating the defendant's right to fair notice or leaving him or her open to the risk of double jeopardy. *State v. Windsor*, 110 Idaho 410, 417-18 (1985); *Brazil*, 136 Idaho at 330. The notice element requires courts to determine whether the record suggests the possibility that the defendant was misled or embarrassed in the preparation or presentation of his or her defense. *State v. Windsor*, 110 Idaho 410, 418 (1985).

A reviewing court must first determine whether there is a variance between the information used to charge the defendant and the instructions presented to the jury. *See Brazil*, 136 Idaho at 329. If the reviewing court does find a variance, it must then determine whether it rises to the level of prejudicial error requiring reversal of the conviction. *Id*.

The Information alleged that Mr. Bernal committed reckless driving, a violation of I.C. § 49-1401 by operating a motor vehicle:

[U]pon Five Mile Rd., Boise, carelessly and heedlessly by driving aggressively and stopped his vehicle in front of Carmen Becerra's vehicle blocking traffic.

(R., p.48.)

The jury was instructed on the elements of reckless driving as follows:

In order for the defendant to be guilty of Reckless Driving, the state must prove each of the following:

- 1. On or about March 11, 2016,
- 2. in the state of Idaho
- 3. the defendant John Jacob Bernal drove or was in actual physical control of a vehicle
- 4. upon a highway, or upon public or private property open to the public, and

5. the defendant drove the vehicle carelessly or heedlessly or without due caution and circumspection and in a manner as to endanger or be likely to endanger any person or property

If any of the above has not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the defendant not guilty. If each of the above has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, then you must find the defendant guilty.

(R., p.93.)

In his closing argument, the prosecutor went through each of the elements of reckless driving. When he arrived at the fourth element—that this happened upon a highway open to the public or private property open to the public—the prosecutor told the jury, "[i]t happened on Five Mile, it happened on Granger; these are public roads." (Tr., p.92, Ls.18-21.) As for the fifth element which required the State to prove "the defendant drove the vehicle carelessly or heedlessly, or without due caution and circumspection, and in a manner as to endanger or be likely to endanger any person or property," the prosecutor said:

This is satisfied in a number of ways.

First, we have his driving on Five Mile. He stops his car in the middle of a busy construction area. He gets out of his car and he walks towards Carmen's. That right there is careless and heedless, a careless and heedless way to drive your car. And it's in a way that can endanger people. If someone doesn't see a park -- a person stopped in that area, it causes collisions, it causes problems.

This also happened when Carmen was speeding away from the defendant and the defendant chased after her. She said that he was right on her bumper. And then, they got onto Granger. And then. They were going so fast, and Carmen realized they were going so fast, that she had to put on the brakes.

So she puts on the brakes, he goes around her, out of control, and strikes another vehicle. Doesn't get much more careless or heedless than that, and it certainly already did endanger people and property. Mr -- Mr. Le was right there when this happened; he was endangered. His car got hit; he was endangered.

The defendant was driving reckless, he was driving aggressively, carelessly, without caution, due caution, circumspection; all of it. It establishes the fifth element of reckless driving.

(Tr., p.91, L.22 – p.94, L.2.)

Here, Mr. Bernal's defense was prejudiced by the prosecutor's last-minute assertion that he recklessly drove on Granger Street and the broad language of the reckless driving jury instruction. In its opening statement, the defense did not even mention the driving on Granger Street, and, during trial, asked no questions of Mr. Le regarding what he saw specific to Mr. Bernal's allegedly evasive action on Granger Street. (Trial Tr., p.11, L.1 – p.12, L.14; p.67, Had defense counsel known the prosecutor intended to ask the jury to convict Ls.8-9.) Mr. Bernal for reckless driving for his attempt to avoid hitting Ms. Becerra's car when she slammed on her brakes on Granger Street, defense counsel could have conducted further investigation to determine whether there were any skid marks at the scene. Counsel could have questioned Mr. Le about whether he heard one or two loud noises and could have asked Mr. Le to clarify whether the loud noise(s) was the sound of screeching brakes or the sound of vehicles colliding. (See Trial Tr., p.62, L.23 – p.63, L.1.) Further, the defense did not elicit any specific information from Ms. Becerra regarding how far away Mr. Bernal was from her car when he was "tailing" her. (See Trial Tr., p.21, Ls.3-11.) Defense counsel could have asked her how fast she thought she was traveling when she slammed on her brakes. (See Trial Tr., p.21, Ls.15-17.) All of this information would have been relevant and necessary for Mr. Bernal to defend against the new allegation that he was recklessly driving on Granger Street.

#### D. <u>The District Court's Error Rose To The Level Of A Fundamental Error</u>

Mr. Bernal acknowledges that no objection was made to these statements. Therefore, the claim raised is one of fundamental error. The Idaho Supreme Court has set forth the standard of appellate review of unobjected-to error. *See State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209 (2010). Pursuant to *Perry*, a defendant must demonstrate that: 1) one or more of his unwaived constitutional rights

were violated; 2) there was a clear and obvious error without the need for additional information not contained in the appellate record; and 3) the error affected the defendant's substantial rights, meaning that there is a reasonable probability that the error affected the outcome of the trial proceedings. *Id.* at 226. Mr. Bernal meets all the prongs of this test.

First, the alleged error is a violation of Mr. Bernal's right to due process. Mr. Bernal was charged with misdemeanor reckless driving. (R., pp.47-48.) The Information alleged that he blocked traffic on Five Mile Road "by driving aggressively and stopped his vehicle in front of Carmen Becerra's vehicle blocking traffic." (R., p.48.) However, the elements instruction expanded the conduct by which Mr. Bernal could have been found guilty of reckless driving, by allowing the jury to convict him if it found "the defendant drove the vehicle carelessly or heedlessly or without due caution and circumspection and in a manner as to endanger or be likely to endanger any person or property" on *any* highway open to the public (R., p.92) (emphasis added), the instruction thus expanded the conduct by which the jury could have found Mr. Bernal guilty.

Giving this instruction violated Mr. Bernal's right to due process—he had no notice that the State was alleging that he committed reckless driving on Granger Street. Although the instruction at issue was a pattern jury instruction and the Idaho Criminal Jury Instructions are presumed correct (see *State v. Merwin*, 131 Idaho 642, 647 (1998), the State had chosen to specify in the charging document what conduct it believed constituted reckless driving. For it to change its theory at the end of trial by telling the jury that it could convict Mr. Bernal of reckless driving both for getting out of his car while it was stopped during construction on Five Mile Road, and by losing control of his car and hitting Mr. Le's car on Granger Street, the State deprived Mr. Bernal of notice and eliminated his ability to put on a defense against the charge. Second, the error is clear and obvious from the record. The law is clear that the instructions to the jury must match the allegation in the charging document as to the means by which a defendant is alleged to have committed the crime charged, and that if they do not, there can be a fatal variance between the jury instructions and the charging document. *State v. Folk*, 151 Idaho 327, 342 (2011); *State v. Day*, 154 Idaho 476 (Ct. App. 2013). The jury instruction is in the record, so there is no need for additional information outside the record. Further, there is no evidence that the failure to object to the instruction was a strategic decision, as Mr. Bernal gained absolutely no strategic advantage by giving the jury an opportunity to convict him based on alternative, uncharged act(s).

Third, there is a reasonable probability that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings. While the jury heard testimony that Mr. Bernal got out of his car in the middle of an intersection, the jury also heard evidence that both cars were completely stopped and waiting for road construction to clear out.<sup>2</sup> (Trial Tr., p.17, Ls.2-6; p.19, Ls.13-19.) It was likely that the jury believed Mr. Bernal simply got out of the car during the period of time when all of the cars in front of him were stopped and waiting for the road construction to be over. Such would not constitute reckless driving. *Perry* requires Mr. Bernal to demonstrate there is a *reasonable possibility* that the error affected the outcome of the trial. *Perry*, 150 Idaho at 226.

Further, the prosecutor, while tying the elements of reckless driving to the facts adduced at trial, specifically told the jury that had proved Mr. Bernal committed reckless driving multiple ways—both when he stopped his car on Five Mile Road and, "This also happened when Carmen

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