#### **Uldaho Law**

### Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-12-2018

### State v. Bernal Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44556

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

## 2. <u>Bernal Has Failed To Show That Any Variance Is Clear Or Obvious On The Record</u>

Bernal argues that the error is clear and obvious from the record because the language used in the jury instruction is different from the language in the Information, and he claims he gained no strategic advantage from allowing the jury to convict him on an alternate act. (See Appellant's brief, p. 12.) While Bernal is correct that the language in the Information does not exactly match the language in the jury instruction, Bernal has still failed the second prong of the fundamental error analysis.

Simply because the language in the charging document is different from the language in the jury instruction does not mean there is clearly a variance or an error. For example in <u>Calver</u>, the language of the Information did not match the language used in the jury instruction, but the Court of Appeals held there was no variance. <u>Calver</u>, 155 Idaho at 215-216, 307 P.3d at 1241-1242 (holding that even though the Information and jury instruction provided different legal definition, the difference did not create a variance). Therefore, in order to determine whether the error alleged is clear this Court should look at more than simply the Information and the jury instruction. Bernal did not object to the reckless driving instructions, and at no time did he complain or argue that he was not given notice of the charged conduct. The fact that Bernal actually defended against the allegations and the evidence presented at trial, and did not object or complain about a lack of notice, demonstrates that any error is not clear error. In this case, the charged conduct involved driving on Five Mile, an accident on Granger Avenue and eventually led to an armed assault. (See R., pp. 47-49.) All of this was charged in the

Information, and there is no clear error in Bernal's decision to not object the jury instructions.

#### 3. The Harmless Error Prong Of The Fundamental Error Analysis Is Moot

The third prong of the fundamental error analysis is moot. If this Court finds that Bernal has met the first and second prong of the fundamental error analysis, then this Court will necessarily have found the variance to be fatal. If this Court finds a fatal variance that is clear on the record then the state would concede that the error was not harmless. However, if this Court finds there was not a clear variance, or that it was not fatal, then this third prong is also moot because Bernal will have failed to show the first and/or second prongs of the fundamental error analysis.

II.

<u>The Jury Instructions For Aggravated Assault Did Not Create A Fatal Variance And</u>

Therefore Did Not Constitute Fundamental Error

#### A. Introduction

The district court instructed the jury on the elements of aggravated assault and the definition of "assault." (R., pp. 89-90.) Bernal did not object. (8/2/16 Tr., p. 70, Ls. 2 – 25.) On appeal, Bernal argues that the instruction defining assault creates a fatal variance with the Information, because the instruction defining assault includes both an "assault-by-attempt" and "assault-by-threat" definition. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 14-18.) Contrary to his argument on appeal, the definition of assault did not create a fatal variance because, regardless of which definition of assault is used, both the Information and the

jury instructions required the state to prove that Bernal attempted to stab Gustavo with a knife.

Bernal was on notice of the charged conduct. Further, because his defense was that there never was any knife and that Gustavo was the aggressor, his defense was not impaired. Bernal has failed to show a variance and has failed to show fundamental error.

#### B. Standard Of Review

A claim of error unpreserved for appellate review by a timely objection may only be considered on appeal if it "constitutes fundamental error." Johnson, 149 Idaho at 265, 233 P.3d at 196. In the absence of an objection "the appellate court's authority to remedy that error is strictly circumscribed to cases where the error results in the defendant being deprived of his or her Fourteenth Amendment due process right to a fair trial in a fair tribunal." Perry, 150 Idaho at 224, 245 P.3d at 976. Review without objection will not lie unless (1) the defendant demonstrates that "one or more of the defendant's unwaived constitutional rights were violated"; (2) the constitutional error is "clear or obvious" on the record, "without the need for any additional information" including information "as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision"; and (3) the "defendant must demonstrate that the error affected the defendant's substantial rights," generally by showing a reasonable probability that the error "affected the outcome of the trial court proceedings." Id. at 226, 245 P.3d at 978.

Whether an impermissible variance exists between a charging instrument and jury instructions is a question of law over which the appellate court exercises free review. Sherrod, 131 Idaho at 57, 951 P.2d at 1284 (citations omitted).

## C. <u>The Instruction Defining Assault Did Not Constitute Fundamental Error Because</u> It Did Not Create A Fatal Variance

The state charged Bernal with aggravated assault in Count I of the Information:

#### COUNT I

That the Defendant, JOHN JACOB BERNAL, on or about the 11th day of March, 2016, in the County of Ada, State of Idaho, did unlawfully and with apparent ability, attempt to commit a violent injury upon the person of Gustavo Becerra, with a deadly weapon, to-wit: a knife and/or by means likely to produce great bodily harm, to-wit: by attempting to stab Gustavo Becerra with a knife.

(R., pp. 47-49.)

The district court instructed the jury regarding the elements of aggravated assault:

- 1. On or about March 11, 2016,
- 2. in the state of Idaho,
- 3. the defendant John Jacob Bernal committed an assault upon Gustavo Becerra
- 4. by attempting to stab him with a knife, and
- 5. the defendant committed that assault with a deadly weapon or instrument.

#### (R., p. 89.) The district court also instructed the jury on the definition of assault:

An "assault" is committed when a person:

- (1) unlawfully attempts, with apparent ability, to commit a violent injury on the person of another; or
- (2) intentionally and unlawfully threatens by word or act to do violence to the person of another, with an apparent ability to do so, and does some act which creates a well-founded fear in the other person that such violence is imminent. "Imminent" means about to take place.

(R., p. 90.)

On appeal, Bernal argues the instruction defining assault amounted to a fatal variance because it allowed the jury to find that Bernal committed the assault by means of "intentional and unlawful threats." (See Appellant's brief, p. 15 ("The district court's

instruction to the jury on two theories, assault-by-attempt *and* assault-by-threat, is a variance.").) Bernal has failed to show this constitutes a variance, let alone a fatal one.

1. The Aggravated Assault Instruction Did Not Create A Variance Because
Both The Jury Instruction And The Information Required The State To
Prove That Bernal Attempted To Stab Gustavo Becerra With A Knife

Bernal has failed to show there was a fatal variance in the aggravated assault instruction that violated his unwaived constitutional rights. As cited above, determining whether there is an impermissible variance is a two-fold task. <u>Gas</u>, 161 Idaho at 592, 388 P.3d at 916. First, the court must determine whether there is a variance between the Information used to charge the crime and the instructions presented to the jury. <u>Id.</u> (citation omitted). Second, if the court determines a variance does exist, then the court must examine whether it rises to the level of prejudicial error requiring reversal of the conviction. <u>Id.</u> (citation omitted). "A variance between a charging instrument and a jury instruction necessitates reversal only when it deprives the defendant of the right to fair notice or leaves him or her open to the risk of double jeopardy." <u>Id.</u> (citations omitted).

Here, there is no variance. The Information alleged that Bernal "did unlawfully and with apparent ability, attempt to commit a violent injury upon the person of Gustavo Becerra, with a deadly weapon, to-wit: a knife and/or by means likely to produce great bodily harm, to-wit: by attempting to stab Gustavo Becerra with a knife." (R., pp. 47-49.) The instruction defining the elements of aggravated assault instructed the jury that Bernal was guilty if he "committed an assault upon Gustavo Becerra...by attempting to stab him with a knife" and that the assault was done with a deadly weapon. (R., p. 89.)

On appeal, Bernal errs by focusing almost exclusively on the instruction defining assault, and ignoring the aggravated assault elements instruction. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 13-18.) Bernal argues that because the instruction defining assault includes both the "assault-by-attempt" and "assault-by-threat" definition, it creates a variance with the Information. (See id.) However, this argument ignores the aggravated assault elements instruction, because regardless of which assault definition is used, the fourth element of the aggravated assault instruction still required the state to prove Bernal committed the assault "4. by attempting to stab [Gustavo] with a knife[.]" Thus, even if the "assault-by-threat" definition is used, the aggravated assault instruction still required the state to prove that Bernal attempted to stab Gustavo, with a knife, "with an apparent ability to do so" and that "such violence was imminent." (R., pp. 89-90.) This does not vary from the Information, which alleged that Bernal attempted to stab Gustavo with a knife.

Even if the definition of assault had to conform to the language of the elements instruction and the Information, it did. The "assault-by-threat" definition states that an "assault is committed when a person ... intentionally and unlawfully threatens by word **or act** to do violence to the person of another[.]" (R., p. 90) (emphasis added). The information alleged that Bernal attempted to stab Gustavo with a knife. (R., pp. 47-49.) Attempting to stab someone with a knife is a threat by act. Bernal has failed to show a variance.

Bernal has also failed the second step of the fatal variance analysis. "A variance between a charging instrument and a jury instruction necessitates reversal only when it deprives the defendant of the right to fair notice or leaves him or her open to the risk of

double jeopardy." <u>Calver</u>, 155 Idaho at 215, 307 P.3d at 1241 (citing <u>Windsor</u>, 110 Idaho at 417-418, 716 P.2d at 1189-1190; <u>Brazil</u>, 136 Idaho at 330, 33 P.3d at 221). Here, Bernal does not argue the alleged variance subjected him to the risk of double jeopardy, but instead argues that the alternate definition in the assault definition deprived him of the right to fair notice. (<u>See</u> Appellant's brief, pp. 14-18.) As noted above, the Information alleged that Bernal attempted to stab Gustavo with a knife – and that is exactly how the jury was instructed.

Further, if a defendant's defense was not thwarted then there is no harm in any variance. See Gas, 161 Idaho at 593, 388 P.3d at 917 (citations omitted). Bernal's defense at trial was that Gustavo's testimony was not credible, that Bernal never even had a knife, and Gustavo was the aggressor. (See 8/2/16 Tr., p. 97, L. 12 – p., 102, L. 20.) Therefore, regardless which assault definition is used, Bernal's defense was not impaired. Bernal has failed to show a variance, let alone a fatal one. Bernal has failed the first prong of the fundamental error analysis.

2. <u>Bernal Has Failed To Show That Any Variance Is Clear Or Obvious On</u>
<u>The Record And Has Failed To Show That The Failure To Object Was Not A Tactical Decision</u>

Again Bernal argues that the error is clear and obvious from the record because the language used in the jury instruction is different from the language in the Information, and he claims he gained no strategic advantage from allowing the jury to convict him on an alternate act. (See Appellant's brief, p. 17.) As explained above, this simplistic interpretation of what constitutes a variance is not supported by case law. See e.g. Calver, 155 Idaho at 215-216, 307 P.3d at 1241-1242. As above, where the claimed error

is lack of notice, it is hard to see how the error is clear where defense counsel did not object or claim a lack of notice. Instead of objecting or arguing he did not have notice, Bernal defended the allegations. There is not a clear lack of notice.

It is also not clear from the record that there was a variance because the aggravated assault instruction limited the assault to an attempted stabbing with a knife, and an attempted stabbing with a knife meets the assault-by-threat definition. Thus it is not clear that from the record there was even a variance. In addition, because Bernal's defense was that he did not even have a knife, and that the state's witnesses were not telling the truth, it very well could have been a tactical decision not to object to the assault instruction. It simply did not matter to Bernal's defense. Thus Bernal has failed the second prong of the fundamental error analysis.

#### 3. The Harmless Error Prong Of The Fundamental Error Analysis Is Moot

Similar to the augment above, the third prong of the fundamental error analysis is moot. If this court finds that Bernal met the first and second prong of the fundamental error analysis, then this Court will necessarily have found the variance to be fatal. If this Court finds a fatal variance that is clear on the record then the state would concede the harmless error prong of the fundamental error analysis. However, if this Court finds there was not a clear variance, or that it was not fatal, then this third prong is also moot because Bernal will have failed to show the first prong of the fundamental error analysis.

# The Prosecutor's Argument That The State Had Proven The Elements Of Aggravated Assault, Including Both Definitions Of Assault, Was Not Misconduct

#### A. Introduction

The district court instructed the jury on the elements of aggravated assault and the definition of assault. (See R., pp. 89-90.) Bernal did not object to those instructions. (8/2/16 Tr., p. 70, Ls. 2 – 25.) During closing argument, the prosecutor argued that the state had introduced evidence that met all of the elements of aggravated assault, including evidence supporting both definitions of assault. (See 8/2/16 Tr., p. 84, L. 4 – p. 91, L. 6.) Bernal did not object. (See id.) On appeal, Bernal argues that the closing argument amounted to prosecutorial misconduct and fundamental error because, by citing the jury instruction defining assault, the prosecutor mispresented its theory of guilt and the law. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 19-25.) Bernal's argument on appeal fails. It was not misconduct, let alone fundamental error, for the state to argue that it introduced evidence that met the elements and definitions in the jury instructions.

#### B. Standard Of Review

"On appeal, the standard of review governing claims of prosecutorial misconduct depends on whether the defendant objected to the misconduct at trial." State v. Severson, 147 Idaho 694, 715, 215 P.3d 414, 435 (2009). If a defendant fails to timely object at trial to allegedly improper closing arguments by the prosecutor, the conviction will be set aside for prosecutorial misconduct only upon a showing by the defendant that the alleged misconduct rises to the level of fundamental error. Perry, 150 Idaho at 228, 245 P.3d at 980.

A claim of error unpreserved for appellate review by a timely objection may only be considered on appeal if it "constitutes fundamental error." <u>Johnson</u>, 149 Idaho at 265, 233 P.3d at 196. In the absence of an objection "the appellate court's authority to remedy that error is strictly circumscribed to cases where the error results in the defendant being deprived of his or her Fourteenth Amendment due process right to a fair trial in a fair tribunal." <u>Perry</u>, 150 Idaho at 224, 245 P.3d at 976. Review without objection will not lie unless (1) the defendant demonstrates that "one or more of the defendant's unwaived constitutional rights were violated"; (2) the constitutional error is "clear or obvious" on the record, "without the need for any additional information" including information "as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision"; and (3) the "defendant must demonstrate that the error affected the defendant's substantial rights," generally by showing a reasonable probability that the error "affected the outcome of the trial court proceedings." Id. at 226, 245 P.3d at 978.

C. <u>The State's Argument That It Proved All Of The Elements Of Aggravated Assault, As Instructed In The Jury Instructions, Was Not Prosecutorial Misconduct And Not Fundamental Error</u>

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